CLIMATE JUSTICE: A RULE OF LAW APPROACH FOR TRANSFORMATIVE CLIMATE ACTION

WHAN CONT

IDLO

Creating a Culture of Justice

International Development Law Organization



Cover image ©UNDP Cambodia

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
INTRODUCTION	5
Applying a justice lens to climate action	6
EMPOWERING THE MOST CLIMATE- VULNERABLE PEOPLE TO REALIZE ENVIRONMENTAL RIGHTS AND PARTICIPATE IN DECISION-MAKING PROCESSES	8
Women and girls	9
Youth and children	9
Indigenous peoples and local communities	10
Climate migrants	11
STRENGTHENING REGULATORY FRAMEWORKS AND INSTITUTIONAL CAPACITY FOR CLIMATE-RESILIENT DEVELOPMENT	12
Regulatory frameworks and justice sector capacity development	12
Fostering a rule of law approach to climate finance	13
Advancing the right to health for climate justice	14

IMPROVING GOVERNANCE OF LAND AND OTHER NATURAL RESOURCES WITH A FOCUS ON ENHANCING LAND RIGHTS AND SUSTAINING	
PEACE	15
Inclusive governance and sustainable management of land and other natural resources	15
Promoting inclusive governance of land and other natural resources to sustain peace	16
Curbing the effects of climate change on food security	16
POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS	18

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Climate change is a defining challenge that will undermine achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). As the world grows hotter, drier, and harder-hit by extreme weather events and the effects of sea level rise. climate change will act as a threat multiplier, disrupting livelihoods, driving displacement and migration, intensifying scarcities of natural resources which can drive violence and conflict, and raising pressure on state-citizen relations and state capacity to advance development. The people most vulnerable to the effects of climate change are those who already experience systematic exclusion and marginalization. Women and girls, youth and children, indigenous peoples, and climate migrants will bear the brunt of the impact.

With its emphasis on rule of law as an enabler of peace, justice and inclusion, SDG 16 can help promote transformative climate action, or what is referred to in this Policy Brief as *climate justice*. "Climate justice" has been used to describe a wide range of legal and policy approaches to addressing climate change. At the core of this diverse set of definitions is the realization that issues of justice are inextricably linked to the causes of climate change and that addressing them must be an essential part of the solution. Key elements of achieving transformative climate action through the rule of law include:

- Empowering the most climate-vulnerable people to realize environmental rights and actively participate in decision-making processes
- Strengthening regulatory frameworks and institutional capacity for climate-resilient development
- Improving governance of land and other natural resources with a focus on enhancing land rights and sustaining peace

This Policy Brief advances seven rule of lawbased policy recommendations to accelerate transformative climate action:

- 1 Empower climate-vulnerable communities and people
- 2 Invest in people-centered laws and institutions to promote transformative climate action
- Champion feminist climate action and integrate gender-transformative approaches
- 4 Strengthen prospects for sustaining peace and stability by preventing and resolving climate-related disputes
- 5 Engage with customary, informal and indigenous justice systems to protect biodiversity and promote sustainable use of natural resources
- 6 Harness the transformative potential of the rule of law to address the intersecting effects of climate change
- 7 Mobilize global multi-stakeholder coalitions to accelerate climate action

INTRODUCTION

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development recognizes that climate change is a transversal challenge that will undermine achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)¹. As the world grows hotter, drier and harder-hit by extreme weather events and the effects of sea level rise, prospects of achieving the SDGs, including SDG 16 on peaceful, just and inclusive societies, are at risk². Climate change "amplifies existing risks and creates new risks for natural and human systems"³. It acts as a threat multiplier, disrupting livelihoods, driving displacement and migration, intensifying scarcities of natural resources which can drive violence and conflict, and raising pressure on state-citizen relations and state capacity to advance development. The impact of climate change cuts across all aspects of the sustainable development agenda, posing urgent challenges not only to environmental conservation, but to the protection of human rights, food security and nutrition, global public goods such as health, and progress toward a more peaceful world. Urgent action is needed to mitigate the causes of climate change by rapidly reducing greenhouse gas emissions while adapting to the effects of climate change that cannot be avoided.

As the only global intergovernmental organization exclusively devoted to promoting the rule of law as an enabler of peace and sustainable development, IDLO champions people-centered justice and works to ensure inclusive, equitable and effective responses to the climate crisis. This Policy Brief highlights three key elements central to accelerating climate justice through the rule of law as summarized below.



Empowering the most climate-vulnerable people to realize environmental rights and actively participate in decision-making processes



Strengthening regulatory frameworks and institutional capacity for climate-resilient development



Improving governance of land and other natural resources with a focus on enhancing land rights and sustaining peace

Applying a justice lens to climate action

The causes and effects of climate change as well as the actions needed to address them are closely linked to issues of justice and equity. The people most vulnerable to the effects of climate change are those who already experience systematic exclusion and marginalization, and will be disproportionately affected⁴. People living in least-developed, fragile and conflictaffected contexts are the most exposed, due to a combination of geographic factors, economic systems reliant on climatethreatened sectors such as agriculture and pastoralism, and limited institutional capacity to address climate risks⁵. Women and girls, youth and children, indigenous peoples, climate migrants and other excluded and marginalized constituencies bear the brunt of the impact. As the effects of climate change undermine the realization of human rights and the SDGs, equitably distributing the burden of mitigating its causes, and the benefits of adaptation to its consequences, is of cardinal concern⁶.

Transformative climate action requires wideranging and coordinated political, economic and social changes underpinned by the rule of law. This can only be achieved through a human rights-based approach, multilateral cooperation, international solidarity and multi-stakeholder partnerships⁷. As many observers have noted, the recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic also represents a unique opportunity to "reassess earlier commitments, readjust previous policies, and redirect [...] resources" in a more fair and equitable manner⁸. Without such inclusive, equitable and effective policies and institutions, the climate crisis will bring about more inequality, more injustice and less peace in the long term.

With this understanding, the concept of climate justice uses a people-centered lens to accelerate climate action, while ensuring the rights of the most vulnerable and disproportionately affected are protected, people are legally empowered, access to justice is guaranteed, institutions are effective, accessible and accountable, and there is broad participation in climate decision-making. Climate justice seeks to amplify the voices of marginalized communities who are most affected by the impacts of climate change, acknowledges the needs of future generations, and recognizes the varied and disproportionate effects of climate change, as well as people's diverse needs in responding to it.

Working at the intersection of SDG 13 (climate action) and SDG 16 is key to achieving climate justice. With its emphasis on strengthening the rule of law and achieving justice for all, SDG 16 can enable transformative, more inclusive, equitable and effective climate action, while ensuring that the costs and benefits of climate mitigation and adaptation measures are distributed fairly, and that the most climatevulnerable people are not left behind.

What is climate justice?

The term "climate justice" is used to describe a wide-ranging set of legal and policy approaches to addressing climate change. At the core of a diverse set of definitions is the realization that addressing justice issues must be part of the response to climate change. IDLO's approach to climate justice seeks to advance bold and ambitious climate action by:

- Linking human rights and development to tackle pre-existing vulnerabilities and inequalities contributing to and exacerbated by climate change.
- Prioritizing the most climate-vulnerable to ensure that no one is left behind.
- Ensuring fair and inclusive climate decision-making, particularly for people and groups traditionally excluded from such processes.
- Investing in people-centered laws and institutions to enable ambitious climate action while equitably distributing costs and benefits of climate mitigation and adaptation measures.
- Building justice systems that can resolve climate-related disputes, while protecting the environmental rights of people and communities, including the rights of future generations.



© UN Women / Joe Saade

EMPOWERING THE MOST CLIMATE-VULNERABLE PEOPLE TO REALIZE ENVIRONMENTAL RIGHTS AND PARTICIPATE IN DECISION-MAKING PROCESSES



© iStock_pixelfusion3d

As climate change aggravates existing inequalities, it will produce different effects for the most vulnerable and excluded constituencies. Those who are most vulnerable to climate change are often those least able to access justice or make their voices heard in governance processes.

Climate justice requires transformative climate action based on the rule of law to address intrinsic inequalities among constituencies and ensure that climate policies place the most climate-vulnerable people at the forefront of the climate agenda, supporting them to claim and defend their environmental rights and contribute to policymaking. This includes gender-transformative approaches across all aspects of climate mitigation and adaptation, youth- and child-friendly approaches to public consultation and policy development, recognition of indigenous and customary rights to land and resources, and establishment of specific justice pathways for climate migrants and other vulnerable groups. Protection of civic space for grassroots mobilizing and advocacy, environmental and human rights defenders and especially women and indigenous people, should also be prioritized.

Women and girls

Women and girls are differently and often disproportionately affected by climate change⁹. The impacts of climate change reinforce pre-existing gender inequalities: gendered differences in livelihood strategies and entrenched socioeconomic inequalities, coupled with lack of representation and voice in decisionmaking processes, limit the opportunities women have to ensure their needs are adequately addressed¹⁰. Research indicates that climate change increases sexual and gender-based violence (SGBV), as SGBV may be used to control women's access to natural resources in the context of scarcity and degradation, or as a deterrent against women mobilizing for their environmental rights¹¹. SGBV also tends to increase after natural disasters, in the event of prolonged displacement and in times of conflict¹². Similarly, women are highly dependent on customary and informal governance structures to access land and other natural resources. Such structures tend to reinforce patriarchal and conservative social norms and power relations, diminishing women's ability to realize their rights to land and food in a context of scarcity¹³. Ensuring equal access to justice, the enactment of inclusive and effective climate laws and policies, and women's meaningful participation in climate decision-making necessitates the adoption of a gender-transformative, rule of law-based approach, taking into account the specific vulnerabilities of women and girls and seeking to shift gender relations toward equality and non-discrimination¹⁴.

Climate justice encompasses gendertransformative approaches to legal, institutional and regulatory processes related to climate and biodiversity, leveraging and scaling up the ability of women and girls to ensure that genderjust climate solutions are developed and implemented at all levels. Evidence demonstrates that women's participation in decision-making around the use of land and natural resources results in greater inclusiveness and responsiveness to people's needs¹⁵. For example, if women had the same access to productive resources as men, they could increase farm yields by 20 to 30 percent, reducing overall hunger by 12 to 17 percent¹⁶. Providing consistent opportunities for the meaningful participation and leadership of women at local, national and international levels would lead to more inclusive and responsive policies, better-suited to achieving transformative climate mitigation and adaptation that benefits the whole of society. For women to have a central role in climate action and decision-making at all levels, women-led movements and civil society organizations must have technical and financial support. The protection of civic space for women environmental defenders and activists must also be a priority.

Youth and children

The countries most vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change are those where youth and children constitute the largest share of the population¹⁷; 7 of the 10 countries most at-risk from the effects of climate change are in the Global South, with young and fast-growing populations.¹⁸ Youth and children experience specific and unique obstacles to realizing their rights, accessing governance institutions, or obtaining a remedy when their rights are denied or violated. Due to conservative and gerontocratic cultural norms and patterns of systematic exclusion, youth and children often experience discrimination based on age. They also face constraints on



© Freepick_bugphai

their participation in civic life and political decision-making and lack the same recourse to formal and informal justice systems as adults. Youth and children are deprived of many of the most basic tools of agency and participation; as such they are disproportionately affected by the harms of climate change¹⁹ and unable to make their voices heard in public decision-making, or influence policy responses. The harms of climate change are most disproportionately experienced by young women and girls, and those youth and children from the poorest households, indigenous communities and displaced populations.

Legal education and empowerment of youth and children, the integration of youthand child-inclusive approaches to justice in law and in practice, and support for their participation in public decision-making on issues that impact their lives, such as climate change, can ensure that youth and children benefit equitably from climate justice. Empowering youth groups and providing them with adequate channels and platforms to voice their interests is critical to overcome the practical, social and legal barriers that prevent young people from upholding their environmental rights and achieving climate justice now and for future generations. To this end, youth and child

participation must be mainstreamed in global climate events and negotiations, as well as in international, national and local justice and policy processes. Access to justice must be guaranteed to ensure the interests and legal needs of young people and children are protected.

Indigenous peoples and local communities

Climate change has the greatest impact on those most dependent on natural resources for their livelihoods, those with the least capacity to respond and adapt to natural hazards, and those most excluded from the exercise of state power. Indigenous peoples and local communities (IPLCs) occupy over 20 percent of the Earth's territory²⁰, and are custodians of 80 percent of the planet's biodiversity²¹. Yet while they constitute a fraction of the world's population, they account for 15 percent of the very poorest,²² a situation exacerbated by the growing impact of climate change and biodiversity loss. Indigenous peoples tend to be excluded from state decision-making processes at national and local levels, often preventing them from advocating for their rights and interests. This is despite recent progress in the development of platforms

and mechanisms designed to empower IPLCs vis-à-vis the climate agenda, such as the Local Communities and Indigenous Peoples Platform at the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), or certain provisions of the Escazú Convention, providing for the inclusion of indigenous communities' perspectives in environmental matters.

Better access to justice and empowerment of local constituencies are required to ensure that indigenous rights are safeguarded and to facilitate the participation and leadership of IPLCs in climate action policymaking. Promoting indigenous rights over land consistent with international commitments such as the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, supports indigenous livelihoods and reduces poverty, while also leveraging indigenous knowledge to improve ecosystem conservation. Incorporating IPLCs in the creation of national and international climate and biodiversity policies, and ensuring that principles such as free, prior and informed consent are applied, can help mitigate the risks that climate change poses to their ways of life. It is also essential that adequate civic space exists for indigenous-led organizations and advocacy to thrive, and that indigenous environmental defenders are protected from the violence and intimidation that they often face.

Climate migrants

By one estimate, more than 200 million people may be displaced by climateinduced natural disasters and conflict in the next 25 years,²³ and hundreds of millions more may choose rural-urban, coastalinland or transboundary migration as a strategy for coping with the adverse effects of climate change²⁴. Climate change is expected to intensify the conditions that drive migration, mainly from the poorest and most climate-vulnerable areas. Climate-driven mixed migration, including voluntary regular or irregular migration within and between countries, planned relocation and forced displacement both temporary and permanent - will continue to be a significant global development challenge.²⁵ Rapid and unregulated urbanization, characterized by the emergence of informal peri-urban settlements denied formal legal status, will increase significantly.

Safeguarding the rights of climate migrants within their own countries, in transit, or in countries where their legal status may be contested, will be a key twenty-first century global challenge. Once climate migrants are on the move, they often face violations of basic rights, coercive violence, food insecurity, lack of access to land and other natural resources, and discrimination in or exclusion from vital public services. Ensuring that climate migrants, irrespective of origin, identity or legal status, can access effective, accountable pathways to justice (including administrative justice, vital for unlocking the benefits of public services) and resolve conflicts with host communities will require legal innovations and a robust focus on the rule of law and human rights. Dynamic rule of law frameworks to enhance the realization of basic rights by informal peri-urban communities, and to restore the rights to housing, land and property of those returning to their countries and communities of origin, are urgently needed. Finally, transnational and rights-based rule of law responses to migrant smuggling should be developed to reduce the often highly gendered harms of illicit migration flows.²⁶

STRENGTHENING REGULATORY FRAMEWORKS AND INSTITUTIONAL CAPACITY FOR CLIMATE-RESILIENT DEVELOPMENT

Climate justice requires fair and effective regulatory frameworks that strengthen accessibility and accountability. States must be able to integrate their international obligations on climate mitigation and adaptation into domestic law and enhance their institutional capacity to address the harshest consequences of climate change and biodiversity loss in line with those commitments. Securing prospects for climate-resilient development will depend not only on adopting or reforming appropriate laws and policies and integrating a rights-based perspective into climate action strategies and plans, but also on ensuring that justice institutions, both formal and informal, have the capacity to deliver on the promise of climate justice. Efforts will be necessary to ensure that the rule of law is the bedrock of an attractive investment environment for climate finance, and that transformative climate action enabled by a justice and rule of law perspective is integrated across other priority policy areas, notably health and food security. Rule of law approaches can strengthen coordination within and between different sectoral institutions while protecting human rights, avoiding some of the unintended side effects of climate action that might increase social tensions and conflict risks.27

Regulatory frameworks and justice sector capacity development

Climate law reforms are a pressing need for most countries. Climate justice requires participatory approaches to both Nationally Determined Contributions and National Adaptation Plans, which must include the active participation of the most climatevulnerable groups.²⁸ Climate concerns must be mainstreamed across public institutions, including the justice sector, to ensure that climate-resilient development is systematically and consistently advanced across society.

Without institutions capable of delivering people-centered justice on climate and environmental matters, countries will be unable to fulfill their commitments to climate-resilient development. Bolstering the capacity of justice sector institutions to address important environmental issues is key to advancing the climate agenda and ensuring that pathways to justice are accessible, inclusive and accountable. This is essential to supporting climate-vulnerable populations to realize their rights and hold those in power accountable. In this context, the justice sector must be seen to include not only formal, state-authorized courts but also customary and informal justice (CIJ) actors that are vitally important for the governance and management of land and other natural resources in much of the world.²⁹

Specific approaches to strengthening justice sector capacity to advance climate-resilient development may include mainstreaming climate analysis in justice sector training, planning and evaluation practices; providing support to judicial and oversight bodies to incorporate analysis of climate impacts and adaptation approaches in laws, policies and standard operating procedures; and improving channels of consultation for regular exchange between justice sector institutions and environmental regulatory bodies. It will be important to strengthen both formal and customary and informal justice mechanisms to facilitate better access to justice and increase participation of climate-vulnerable people in justice administration, and to foster coordination and coherence across formal and customary and informal justice providers responsible for natural resource management to ensure a collaborative approach to climate and justice issues. Further, it may be necessary to strengthen redress mechanisms for climate justice seekers by supporting the establishment or enhancement of specialized environmental courts and tribunals, a measure already in place in some 40 countries to date.³⁰

Fostering a rule of law approach to climate finance

The rule of law can be a powerful enabler of national and global climate finance mechanisms supporting the transition to a low-carbon future. Resources on a vast scale have been mobilized for climate finance initiatives such as the Global Environment Facility (GEF), Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD+), and the Green Climate Fund (GCF). These mechanisms, together with multilateral development banks, bilateral donors and private sector initiatives, marshal over \$70 billion in climate finance for developing countries annually.³¹ However, common barriers to accessing climate finance, including inadequate legal and regulatory frameworks, limited enforcement ability, weak organizational capacity and the absence of effective governance, negatively affect the provision of and access to financial resources to combat climate change.³²

In this context, rule of law-based policies and legal frameworks can support public and private sector actors in accessing international climate finance for mitigation and adaptation purposes. Environmental integrity, transparent governance, respect for human rights and the protection of social well-being are integral parts of climate justice. Incorporating a whole-ofgovernment approach is crucial to ensure that social and environmental concerns are considered throughout the decision-making process for projects attracting climate finance, and that venues are established for affected communities to address issues of concern and resolve disputes regarding those projects. It is essential to ensure that transparency mechanisms are in place, and that actors involved in climate adaptation and mitigation projects demonstrate accountability. This will also increase donor and private sector confidence in investing in climate action. Climate finance mechanisms themselves must respect international human rights standards, such as the right to participation, access to information, and prior and informed consent.33

Advancing the right to health for climate justice

The right to health is a fundamental human right and is indispensable for human well-being, well-functioning societies and economies, and for the ability to exercise all other human rights. Realizing the right to health is a legal obligation enshrined in the United Nations International Covenant on Economic. Social and Cultural Rights and other international and regional treaties, as well as in the constitutions and statutes of many States. Climate change is the greatest threat to human health in the twenty-first century. It affects many social and environmental determinants of health including through desertification, drought, flooding, extreme weather including heat and storms, sea level rise and salination of ground water, and changes in patterns of disease vectors. Health impacts include increased cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, malnutrition, malaria and other vector-borne diseases, diarrhea and heat stress. Mental and behavioral health conditions resulting from climate change range from anxiety, depression and alcohol and substance abuse to post-traumatic stress and suicide. As with many aspects of climate change, risks are unevenly distributed across societies, with the most vulnerable constituencies at higher risk of morbidity and mortality.³⁴ Climate change will stretch the capacity of health systems: they must be strengthened in ways that enable them to remain effective and efficient in the face of uncertainty and responsive to the needs of the most climate-vulnerable. As with the COVID-19 pandemic, climate change is again demonstrating that rule of law and good governance are indispensable to strengthen governance and institutions so that the right to health can be realized for all, including climate-vulnerable communities.35

A people-centered rule of law approach can be used to design and implement policies, programs and strategies that manage the risks of climate change on human health. This can include integrating human health considerations into Nationally Determined **Contributions, National Adaptation Plans** and other adaptation and mitigation policies, and promoting population health as a key consideration in the climate action agenda. It can also include strengthening civil society capacity to use legal empowerment and social accountability approaches, including strategic litigation, to hold decision-makers to account;³⁶ bolstering legal regulations to address public health emergencies resulting from climate change; developing climate-informed health interventions; and enhancing preparedness and resilience to emerging or increasing human health risks associated with climate change.

IMPROVING GOVERNANCE OF LAND AND OTHER NATURAL RESOURCES WITH A FOCUS ON ENHANCING LAND RIGHTS AND SUSTAINING PEACE

Billions of people rely directly on land and other natural resources, such as water and forests, for their survival and prosperity. The effects of climate change on land and natural resources are likely to undermine food security for millions, with the most deleterious effects for the most climatevulnerable. Climate change drives up competition for increasingly scarce arable land and water, fueling dispossession and land-grabbing, criminal exploitation of land and natural resources, conflict and displacement.³⁷ Because of land insecurity and dysfunctional land tenure systems in many countries, land is one of the central issues around which people seek justice solutions.³⁸ The most excluded and marginalized people - women, youth, indigenous people - struggle to claim and resolve disputes over land in a timely, fair and consistent manner. Effective justice pathways to sustainable access to and use of land and natural resources are essential not only to the protection of people's rights, but also to prevent conflict and sustain peace.

Inclusive governance and sustainable management of land and other natural resources

The governance and management of land, water, forests and other natural resources

is essential not only to the protection of ecosystems and biodiversity, but also to sustaining life and livelihoods. Smallholder farmers produce an estimated 80 percent of the food consumed in the Global South, but soil degradation, drought and biodiversity loss threaten their socio-economic wellbeing. Rural communities are dependent on local water sources that are likewise threatened by changes in rainfall patterns, drought and wastage.³⁹ These communities possess unique and valuable contextual knowledge of natural resources and have a vested interest in ensuring the sustainable use of land and resources.

Strengthening adherence to rule of law principles and mainstreaming environmental law across public policy can lead to the effective implementation of nature-based solutions, giving greater agency to the communities that depend on the land the most.⁴⁰ The rule of law improves inclusive governance of land and natural resources, increases climate-resilient development and empowers climatevulnerable people to actively participate in managing their natural environments, enabling the conditions for peace and development to flourish.⁴¹

Key interventions might include a combination of legal empowerment strategies and protection of civic space, as well as social accountability approaches to advance sustainable and equitable governance and use of land and natural resources. Enhancing formal and CIJ dispute resolution mechanisms on land and other natural resources, strengthening coordination and coherence between formal and customary systems, and supporting customary land governance systems to become more inclusive, responsive and accountable (especially toward women) will have the greatest effect on the most climate-vulnerable. Identifying policy and programming opportunities at the nexus of climate change and other areas, including health and food security, should also be prioritized.

Promoting inclusive governance of land and other natural resources to sustain peace

Climate-related factors such as drought and flooding are significant conflict multipliers.⁴² As the climate becomes hotter and drier and extreme weather events result in ever-scarcer arable land and other natural resources, competition over those resources within and across communities will increase, in some cases leading to violent conflict.⁴³ This risk is most acute when climate-driven scarcities occur in a context of fragility, characterized by poor statecitizen relations and weak management of disputes within a framework of rule of law. Livelihoods based on pastoralism are especially vulnerable to disruption: shifting availability of grazing land and water can cause friction between farmers and herders. exacerbated by the fact that remote and cross-border pastoralist groups often lack influence in national policymaking.44 As climate change-induced shifts in access

to land and natural resources make rural livelihoods more insecure, people may be prompted to adopt illicit agricultural production (for example, illicit crops such as poppy and coca are particularly resilient to the effects of climate change) or even violent and criminal activities (for example, by joining non-state armed groups, or engaging in transboundary smuggling of arms and people). Livelihood insecurity can also act as a push factor for rural-urban and transboundary mixed migration.

Inclusive governance of land and other natural resources has the potential to mitigate conflict and sustain peace, for example by facilitating inter-communal cooperation in ways that reduce tension and increase trust. Fostering effective state service provision can also boost state legitimacy and reduce fragility.45 Interventions that expand access to justice can address everyday grievances and resolve disputes over land and natural resources through existing statutory and CIJ mechanisms, while establishing fair legal frameworks for environmental protection can promote equitable distribution of the benefits of natural resources in ways that reduce conflict overall. At a macro level. improving the governance of land and other natural resources can foster collaboration and promote peace. Countries should also address the likely expansion of illicit agricultural production and violent activities that may result from the long-term effects of climate change, to ensure these phenomena do not destabilize social order in climatevulnerable communities and countries.

Curbing the effects of climate change on food security

Climate change and the biodiversity loss it engenders affects food security, nutrition and the stability of food systems.



© CIFOR / Tri Saputro

Increasingly frequent and severe rapid-onset natural disasters damage crop yields and disrupt harvests while slow-onset disasters such as desertification, biodiversity loss and rising temperatures diminish the quantity and quality of food produced. Climate change is a major driver of variations in agricultural production and thus food prices, as the concentration of global crop production in a few regions renders supply chains, markets and prices vulnerable to extreme events in producer countries. Sharp food price increases in countries importing a large portion of their food are associated with social unrest and conflict, as evidenced in the 2010-11 food price crisis that unsettled governments in Africa and the Middle East.⁴⁶ Food insecurity is also an important component of the climateconflict nexus: in fragile contexts, extreme or unpredictable weather patterns causing food shortages or famine have contributed to armed conflicts, while, in turn, armed conflicts damage agricultural land, disrupt food value chains, and prevent the delivery of humanitarian aid thereby reinforcing existing food scarcities.⁴⁷ Rising food insecurity undercuts and undermines progress across the entire 2030 Agenda.

Effective laws, regulations and justice systems based on the rule of law can promote food security by strengthening environmental rights protection, supporting regulatory frameworks for access to land and food, increasing institutional capacity to enhance resilience to the effects of climate change, and empowering local communities to know and claim their rights. Protecting equitable land access through legal empowerment and other people-centered justice strategies must be at the heart of this. But a rule of law approach to food security should also include, for example, promoting and sustaining conservation and biodiversity policies; implementing resilient agricultural practices and maintaining the genetic diversity of seeds, cultivated plants and farmed and domesticated animals; ensuring that countries meet key targets relating to sustainable food production systems; and protecting civic space that enables people - including the most vulnerable and excluded - to exercise agency in mobilizing and advocating for food security.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Empower climate-vulnerable communities and people

Legal empowerment and protection of civic space can enable people and communities to claim their environmental rights, while inclusive policymaking ensures climate policies are informed by and more responsive to their needs. Priority must be given to people and groups whose lives and livelihoods are most vulnerable to the effects of climate change including women and girls, indigenous peoples and local communities, and climate migrants. Special emphasis must be placed on providing young people with platforms and support and ensuring that youth- and child-inclusive approaches are at the heart of climate action.

2. Invest in people-centered laws and institutions to promote transformative climate action

Effective, inclusive and transparent institutions, particularly in the justice sector, are essential for climate resilient development and the implementation of climate commitments including Nationally Determined Contributions and National Adaptation Plans. Peoplecentered justice systems can foster an investment environment attractive to climate finance mechanisms through reduced corruption, effective contract enforcement and dispute resolution, while allowing those most affected by climate change to seek redress and claim their rights.



3. Champion feminist climate action and integrate gender-transformative approaches

States must work to better understand and address the different and disproportionate impact of climate change on women and girls, combat barriers and discrimination, empower women to claim their rights, and integrate women's active engagement and leadership in climate decision-making at all levels. Dedicated support should be provided for women-led movements and civil society organizations to contribute to global climate and biodiversity negotiations.



4. Strengthen prospects for sustaining peace and stability by preventing and resolving climate-related disputes

Climate change has emerged as a significant driver of conflict in fragile contexts. Strengthening frameworks for governance of land and natural resources, and equitable access to both formal and customary and informal justice mechanisms, can help reduce conflict risks related to contests over natural resources by preventing disputes and resolving them peacefully, while promoting climate-resilient development.



5. Engage with customary, informal and indigenous justice systems to protect biodiversity and promote sustainable use of natural resources

Customary, informal and indigenous actors govern access to land and natural resources for many of the most climatevulnerable people but are often excluded from decisionmaking and their rights over natural resources disregarded. CIJ and indigenous systems should be supported to enable inclusive, equitable and effective climate action, uphold indigenous rights, and facilitate the participation and leadership of indigenous peoples and local communities in climate action policymaking at local, national and international levels.



6. Harness the transformative potential of the rule of law to address the intersecting effects of climate change

Climate change has wide-ranging effects on nutrition, health, gender equality, poverty and inequality. The 2030 Agenda provides the transformative framework to advance the integrated and indivisible dimensions of sustainable development. Integrated policy solutions are needed to deliver coherent and coordinated responses to climate change. The rule of law, as articulated in SDG 16, can serve as a powerful enabler for the institutional and policy transformations needed to address the complex transversal effects of climate change, in areas including food and nutrition (SDG 2), health (SDG 3), gender equality (SDG 5) and climate action (SDG 13).



7. Mobilize global multi-stakeholder coalitions to accelerate climate action

Scaling up climate action will require forging new partnerships between States as well as actors from civil society, the private sector, academia, youth and citizens' groups. These new alliances can help ensure strong links between national and global action and generate the political will, governance mechanisms and resources needed for faster and more ambitious climate action. Multilateral frameworks, including the SDGs and UNFCCC, can facilitate international cooperation and foster solidarity and coordinated and intersectoral actions on climate change as well as related global challenges such as conflict and migration, grounded in the rule of law and human rights.

ENDNOTES

¹ Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, 25 September 2015, United Nations General Assembly Resolution, A/RES/70/1, p. 5, par. 14, pp. 14-15.

² Marie-Claire Cordonier Segger, "Towards an Honourable Future? Bridging the Capacity Chasm to Address Critical Global Challenges and Advance Our Sustainable Development Goals", Lauterpacht Centre for International Law (2020); A. Crawford, "Climate Change, Conflict, and the Sustainable Development Goals", International Institute for Sustainable Development (2015), available at: https://www.iisd.org/articles/climate-change-conflict-and-sustainable-development-goals.

³ See Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, "Headline statements from the Summary for Policymakers", 5 November 2014, available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ar5_syr_headlines_en.pdf.

⁴ B.S. Levy and J.A. Patz, "Climate Change, Human Rights, and Social Justice", Annals of Global Health, vol. 81, no. 3 (May-June 2015); Centre for International Sustainable Development Law, "Human Rights, The Sustainable Development Goals and the Law: International Legal Symposium", 15 May 2020, available at: https://www.cisdl.org/human-rights-the-sustainable-development-goals-the-law-international-legal-symposium/.

⁵ Centre for International Sustainable Development Law, "Human Rights, The Sustainable Development Goals and the Law: International Legal Symposium", 15 May 2020, available at: https://www.cisdl.org/human-rights-the-sustainable-development-goals-the-law-international-legal-symposium/

⁶ B.S. Levy and J.A. Patz, "Climate Change, Human Rights, and Social Justice", Annals of Global Health, vol. 81, no. 3 (May-June 2015).

⁷ "The human rights-based approach (HRBA) is a conceptual framework for the process of human development that is normatively based on international human rights standards and operationally directed to promoting and protecting human rights. It seeks to analyse inequalities which lie at the heart of development problems and redress discriminatory practices and unjust distributions of power that impede development progress and often result in groups of people being left behind." See United Nations Sustainable Development Group, "Human Rights-Based Approach", available at: https://unsdg.un.org/2030-agenda/universal-values/human-rights-based-approach; see also United Nations, Office of the High Commissioner, "Key Messages on Human Rights and Climate Change", available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/ClimateChange/KeyMessages_on_HR_CC.pdf.

⁸ See United Nations Environment Programme and Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, "Human Rights, the Environment and COVID-19: Key Messages", available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/ ClimateChange/HR-environment-COVID19.pdf.

⁹ I. Dankelman, "Gender and Climate Change: An Introduction", in Gender, Development and Climate Change, R. Masika ed. (Oxford, Information Press, 2002).

¹⁰ United Nations Environment Programme, UN Women, United Nations Development Programme and UNDPPA/ UN Peacebuilding Support Office, "Gender, Climate & Security, Sustaining inclusive peace on the frontlines of climate change", (2020), available at: https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/ library/publications/2020/gender-climate-and-security-en.pdf?la=en&vs=215; J. Eastin, "Climate change and gender equality in developing states", World Development, vol. 107 (July 2018).

¹¹ I. Castañeda Camey, L. Sabater, C. Owren and A.E. Boyer, "Gender-based violence and environment linkages", (IUCN, 2020), available at: https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/2020-002-En.pdf.

¹² International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, "Unseen, unheard: Gender-based violence in disasters: Global study", (2015).

¹³ International Development Law Organization, "Women, Food, Land: Exploring Rule of Law Linkages", (2017), available at: https://www.idlo.int/publications/women-food-land-exploring-rule-law-linkages-0.

¹⁴ UNFCCC COP20 adopted the Lima Work Programme on Gender (subsequently renewed) to promote gender balance and achieve gender-responsive climate policy", see UNFCCC, "The Enhanced Lima Work Programme on Gender", available at: https://unfccc.int/topics/gender/workstreams/the-enhanced-lima-work-programme-on-gender.

¹⁵ See, for example, Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, "Analytical study on gender-responsive climate action for the full and effective enjoyment of the rights of women", (2019), available at: https://undocs.org/A/

HRC/41/26

¹⁶ International Institute for Sustainable Development, "Gender equality: The formula to accelerate implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development", (2021), available at: https://www.iisd.org/system/files/2021-03/still-one-earth-gender.pdf.

¹⁷ International Fund for Agricultural Development, "Climate and jobs for rural young people", (2019), available at: https://www.ifad.org/documents/38714170/41187395/09_Brooks+et+al._2019+RDR+BACKGROUND+PAPER. pdf/287f3f48-a822-1eba-d479-c746b7f4ba72; United Nations Children's Fund, "Unless we act now: the impact of climate change on children", November 2015, available at: https://www.unicef.org/media/60111/file.

¹⁸ Afghanistan, India, Malawi, Mozambique, Niger, South Sudan and Zimbabwe; based on comparison of D. Eckstein, V. Kunzel, L. Schafer, "Global Climate Risk Index 2021, Who Suffers Most from Extreme Weather Events? Weather-Related Loss Events in 2019 and 2000-2019", German Watch, (2021), available at: https://germanwatch.org/sites/ default/files/Global%20Climate%20Risk%20Index%202021_2.pdf, with United Nations, Population Division, "World Population Prospects 2019", available at: https://population.un.org/wpp/.

¹⁹ Report of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Analytical study on the relationship between climate change and the full and effective enjoyment of the rights of the child, 4 May 2017 (A/HRC/35/13).

²⁰ J. Robbins, "Native Knowledge: What Ecologists are Learning from Indigenous peoples", Yale Environment 360, 26 April 2018, available at: https://e360.yale.edu/features/native-knowledge-what-ecologists-are-learning-from-indigenous-people.

²¹ Indigenous Peoples Major Group for Sustainable Development, "Thematic Report for the High-Level Political Forum of Agenda 2030", (2020), available at https://www.indigenouspeoples-sdg.org/index.php/english/all-resources/ipmg-position-papers-and-publications/ipmg-reports/global-reports/162-ipmg-thematic-report-for-hlpf-2020/file

²² Ibid.

²³ N. Myers, "Environmental Refugees: An emergent security issue", Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe, 13th Economic Forum, Prague, 23-27 May 2005, available at: https://www.osce.org/files/f/ documents/c/3/14851.pdf.

²⁴ B. Sedova and M. Kalkuhl, "Who are the climate migrants and where do they go? Evidence from rural India", World Development, vol. 129 (May 2020), p. 129; K. Kumari Rigaud et al., "Groundswell: Preparing for Internal Climate Migration", World Bank (2018), available at: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/29461.

²⁵ R. McLeman, Climate and Human Migration: Past Experiences, Future Challenges (Cambridge University Press, 2014).

²⁶ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, "Abused and Neglected: A Gender Perspective on Aggravated Migrant Smuggling Offences and Response", (2021), available at: https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/2021/ Aggravated_SOM_and_Gender.pdf.

²⁷ A. Detges et al., "10 Insights on climate impacts and peace: A summary of what we know", adelphi, Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research, (2020), available at: https://www.adelphi.de/en/publication/10-insights-climate-impacts-and-peace.

²⁸ See Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, "Response to the request of Ad Hoc Working Group on the Paris Agreement (APA)", 1 November 2016, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ Issues/ClimateChange/OHCHR_APA.pdf; see also S. Duyck et al., "Human Rights and the Paris Agreement's Implementation Guidelines: Opportunities to Develop a Rights-based Approach", Carbon & Climate Law Review, Volume 12, Issue 3 (2018) pp. 191–202.

²⁹ See for example IDLO, "Women, Food, Land: Exploring Rule of Law Linkages", (2017), available at: https://www.idlo. int/publications/women-food-land-exploring-rule-law-linkages-0.

³⁰ United Nations Environment Programme, "Environmental Rule of Law, First Global Report", (2019) available at: https://www.unep.org/resources/assessment/environmental-rule-law-first-global-report.

³¹ See Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, "Climate finance for developing countries reached USD 71 billion in 2017", 3 September 2019, available at: https://www.oecd.org/environment/climate-finance-for-developing-countries-reached-usd-71-billion-in-2017.htm.

³² See L. Schalatek, K. Omari and M. Barnett, "Broken Connections and Systemic Barriers: Overcoming the Challenge of the 'Missing Middle' in Adaptation Finance", (2019), available at: https://us.boell.org/en/2020/01/10/broken-connections-and-systemic-barriers-overcoming-challenge-missing-middle-adaptation, and C. Lüdemann and O.C. Ruppel, "International Climate Finance: Policies, Structures and Challenges", in Climate Change: International Law and Global Governance: Volume II: Policy, Diplomacy and Governance in a Changing Environment, O.C. Ruppel, C. Roschmann and K. Ruppel-Schlichting, eds. (Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft mbH, 2013), pp. 375-408, available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctv941vsk.19?seq=17#metadata_info_tab_contents.

³³ See L. Schalatek and N. Bird, "The principles and criteria of public climate finance: a normative framework", Overseas Development Institute, (2011), available at: http://www.forum.awid.org/forum12/wp-content/ uploads/2011/12/1-CFF-GLOBAL-ENG-PRINT-MASTER.pdf, and ACT Svenska kyrkan, "International Climate Finance from a Human Rights Perspective", (2020), available at: https://www.svenskakyrkan.se/filer/8385_SK20032-MR-ochklimatfinansiering-eng_utskrift.pdf.

³⁴ World Health Organization, "WHO global strategy on health, environment and climate change: the transformation needed to improve lives and well-being sustainably through healthy environments", (2020), available at: https://www. who.int/phe/publications/WHO-STRATEGY-LAY5_fin_red.pdf.

³⁵ IDLO, "The Vital Role of Law in the COVID-19 Response: Key Lessons from Advancing the Right to Health", 20 July 2020, available at: https://www.idlo.int/publications/vital-role-law-covid-19-response-key-lessons-advancing-right-health

³⁶ See for example, "Strategic litigation to advance public health", available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC6293347/ for experience from other health issues, notably in LMIC context.

³⁷ UN Habitat, "Land Tenure and Climate Vulnerability", (2019); C. Mbow et al., "Food Security", in Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems, P.R. Shukla et al., eds., available at: https://www. ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/4/2021/02/08_Chapter-5_3.pdf; UNFCCC, "Protecting the Climate and Achieving Food Security", 16 June 2021, available at: https://unfccc.int/news/protecting-the-climate-and-achieving-foodsecurity.

³⁸ World Justice Project, "Global Insights on Access to Justice", (2019).

³⁹ IFAD, "Viewpoint: Smallholders can feed the world", February 2011, available at: https://www.ifad.org/ documents/38714170/40706188/Smallholders+can+feed+the+world_e.pdf/460ca6c2-7621-40d8-9f79-a56f6f8fa75e.

⁴⁰ Nature-based Solutions are actions to protect, sustainably manage, and restore natural and modified ecosystems that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, simultaneously providing human well-being and biodiversity benefits. See IUCN, "Nature-based Solutions", available at: https://www.iucn.org/theme/nature-based-solutions.

⁴¹ See, for example, Office of the UN Secretary-General, "Guidance Note of the Secretary-General: The United Nations and Land and Conflict", (2019), available at: https://www.un.org/en/land-natural-resources-conflict/pdfs/GN_ExeS_Land%20and%20Conflict.pdf

⁴² A study estimates that between 3 to 20 percent of organized armed conflict risk has been influenced by climate over the last century. Detges et al. (2020). K.J. Mach et. al., "Climate as a risk factor for armed conflict", Nature, vol. 571 (2019).

⁴³ B. Mosello et al., "The Climate Change-Conflict Connection – The Current State of Knowledge", (2020).

⁴⁴ J. Scheffran, P.M. Link and J. Schilling, "Climate and Conflict in Africa", Oxford Research Encyclopaedia of Climate Science, April 2019.

⁴⁵ F. Krampe, F. Hegazi and S.D. VanDeveer, "Sustaining peace through better resource governance: Three potential mechanisms for environmental peacebuilding", World Development, vol. 144 (August 2021), p. 144.

⁴⁶ See for example C. Mbow et. al., Food Security, (2019).

⁴⁷ See Food Security Information Network, "2021 Global report on food crises: Joint analysis for better decisions", Global Network Against Food Crises, FSIN, (2021), available at: http://ebrary.ifpri.org/utils/getfile/collection/ p15738coll2/id/134397/filename/134609.pdf; Global Network Against Food Crises, "Conflict, climate change and COVID-19 impacts on rising acute food insecurity", Statement of the Global Network against Food Crises on the release of the Global Report on Food Crises (2021), available at: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/ resources/GRFC_Joint-statement_EN.pdf.



HEADQUARTERS International Development Law Organization (IDLO) www.idlo.int | idlo@idlo.int | @IDLO Viale Vaticano, 106 | 00165 | Rome | Italy Tel: +39 06 4040 3200 Fax: +39 06 4040 3232

Branch Office Hofweg 9E | 2511 AA The Hague | The Netherlands Tel: +31 070 240 0870 thehague@idlo.int Office of the Permanent Observer (UN) 336 East 45th Street | 11th floor New York | NY 10017 | USA Tel: +1 212 867 9707 newyork@idlo.int Office of the Permanent Observer (UN) 23 Avenue de France 1202 | Geneva | Switzerland Tel: +41 22 734 41 40 geneva@idlo.int

The International Development Law Organization (IDLO) is the only global intergovernmental organization exclusively devoted to promoting the rule of law to advance peace and sustainable development. IDLO works to enable governments and empower people to reform laws and strengthen institutions to promote peace, justice, sustainable development and economic opportunity. Its programs, research and policy advocacy cover the spectrum of rule of law from peace and institution building to social development and economic recovery in countries emerging from conflict and striving towards democracy.

Copyright © 2021, International Development Law Organization (IDLO). All rights reserved.







